RECEIVED

Jul 02 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000364

Richard A. Gorman Respondent,

v.

John C. Monarch Appellant.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL OPENING BRIEF

Steven Edward Buckingham (S.C. Bar No. 0075089)
The Law Office of Steven Edward Buckingham, LLC
16 Wellington Avenue
Greenville, South Carolina 29609
(o) 864.735.0832
(e) seb@buckingham.legal

Attorney for Appellant John C. Monarch

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by striking Appellant's answer and counterclaim as a discovery sanction where the record reflected compliance, no willful misconduct, and no resulting prejudice to Respondent.
2. Whether the trial court erred in rejecting less severe sanctions without adequate analysis of their sufficiency to address any alleged discovery violation, in contravention of South Carolina precedent requiring sanctions to be proportional.
3. Whether the trial court improperly relied on contested expert opinions suggesting data tampering despite unrefuted forensic evidence demonstrating that Appellant's laptop was authentic and its data unaltered.
4. Whether the trial court misinterpreted the August 21, 2020 consent order by construing it to waive Appellant's rights to assert privilege, object to production, or oppose forensic imaging protocols.
5. Whether the cumulative effect of the trial court's discovery rulings deprived Appellant of a fair opportunity to litigate his claims on the merits, warranting reversal and remand for trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the trial court's order striking Appellant's answer and counterclaims as a discovery sanction, which was not warranted under the circumstances. The trial court's order must be reversed and vacated, and the case remanded.

The underlying dispute centers on a claim brought by Respondent in 2014 for defamation and blackmail. For the past 5 years, the litigation has been far less focused on the merits of Respondent's claim and far more focused on Appellant's compliance with orders regarding electronic discovery.

In 2020, the trial court entered a consent discovery order that required Appellant to disclose electronic devices that he was using in 2013. Appellant did so and identified two: a 2013 MacBook and an iPhone 5. Appellant initially believed that he had traded in both devices, with the contents of the MacBook having been transferred to a newer computer, while the contents of iPhone were likely lost. However, Appellant later found his MacBook, and a forensic examination of that device yielded a complete backup copy of the iPhone's contents from 2013.

After the entry of the consent discovery order, Respondent argued that Appellant had waived his right to object to a forensic analysis of the devices (which was ultimately performed), as well as to any protections against the disclosure of confidential, sensitive, private, or privileged information. Appellant disagreed. In March 2022, the trial court entered an order that established a forensic protocol for an inspection of Appellant's electronic devices. This order sought to provide protection for Appellant's legitimate privacy interests and privilege rights; but, as entered, Appellant's compliance was legally, financially, and practically impossible.

Regardless, in April 2023, the trial court entered an order directing Appellant to strictly comply with the prior discovery orders, warning that his non-compliance would result in the striking of his pleadings (which consisted of an answer and counterclaim). Appellant complied. No inculpatory evidence was found on Appellant's devices.

Later, however, Respondent's forensic expert suggested that data had been lost from Appellant's MacBook, though he could not say what data was lost, when, or how. Appellant's forensic expert disputed these conclusions. The assertion that data had been lost from Appellant's MacBook was disputed by Appellant's forensic expert.

But, in an order dated February 26, 2025, the trial court granted Respondent's motion for sanctions, concluding that Appellant had failed to comply with the trial court's prior discovery orders, and that the most severe discovery sanction available—striking his pleadings—was warranted. This appeal followed.

The immediate issue presented by this appeal is the propriety of the trial court's decision to strike Appellant's answer and counterclaim as a discovery sanction. But in resolving this appeal, it may be appropriate to consider the broader contours of electronic discovery from perspectives of both practice and policy. Those considerations may include: (i) what showing must be made to support an order for the forensic inspection of an adverse party's electronic devices; (ii) what time-limitations are appropriate for electronic discovery; (iii) what protections are necessary for protecting a party's legitimate privacy interests and privilege rights in the context of electronic discovery; and (iv) whether and to what extent the existence of genuine disputes of material fact regarding a party's compliance with a discovery order affect the trial court's ability to sanction the party, particularly as to the sanction of striking that party's pleadings.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The procedural history of this case is long, complex, and—as one order described—“tortured.” (Feb. 26, 2025 Or. at 3.) The undersigned appreciates the Court’s patience in navigating the extensive record and offers the following summary of the case’s history in the hope that it will provide helpful context for the matters now on appeal—the striking of Appellant’s answer and counterclaim as a discovery sanction.

The case is one of several filed between the parties, with related litigation having taken place in both Pennsylvania and Arizona on what Respondent admits are the “same claims.” (Jan. 22, 2018 Or. at 1.) The genesis of this dispute—of all these disputes—goes back to a set of unfriendly communications that were exchanged on Twitter (now known as “X.com,”) in 2013 over college football. (Aug. 21, 2019 Aff. Default, Att. A., at 262:25-264:22.) Apparently, before this online exchange, Appellant and Respondent didn’t know each other. (Id.) Although they were both participants in the same general type of business, they lived in different states and had never crossed paths. Following their exchange on Twitter, though, Respondent became intensely fixated on Appellant, leading to this lawsuit.

Respondent alleges that, shortly after the Twitter exchange, Appellant launched a blackmail campaign under the online alias “Rick Rollinski,” threatening to spread damaging information about Respondent unless he paid a substantial sum in Bitcoin to an anonymous account. (See Jan. 23, 2025 Mem. Opp., Att. B.; see also id., Att. D at 98:7-101:15.) Respondent contends that, when the supposed extortion attempt failed, Appellant then collaborated with others to defame him and harm his business interests by circulating the accusation that Respondent is a pedophile. (Compl. at ¶ 51(c).) There is no

evidence that Appellant is responsible for any of these acts, and Appellant has steadfastly denied his involvement.

As it turns out, Respondent is a registered sexual offender who spent years in a Florida state prison after pleading to sexual assault. (Jan. 23, 2025 Mem. Opp. Sanctions, Att. A.) This information is discoverable by anyone through a simple internet search. Thus, the defamation at issue is not whether Respondent is a convicted sexual offender; it's whether his victim was a minor.

Over the years, Respondent has sued Appellant and others under many different causes of action and in several jurisdictions. Now, however, only two of Respondent's causes of action against Appellant remain: an action for defamation; and an action for intentional infliction of emotional distress. Appellant denies—and has consistently denied—Respondent's allegations, and has brought his own counterclaim against Respondent for defamation for posts that Respondent has made about Appellant on a fake-news website owned and operated by Respondent. (Oct. 29, 2020 Am. Ans.)

Shortly after the parties' Twitter exchange, in 2013, Respondent's lawyers sent Appellant a preservation letter. (2013 Preservation Letter.) Respondent filed the underlying lawsuit on August 8, 2014. (Compl.)

From the outset, this case has been plagued by delays. The first major delay occurred on December 1, 2015, when the trial court granted a stay at Respondent's request—over Appellant's objection—as litigation over similar issues was already pending in federal court in Pennsylvania. (Dec. 1, 2015 Or. at 1.) That stay halted proceedings in this case for more than 8 months. The stay was lifted on August 16, 2016, following settlement of the Pennsylvania case. (Aug. 16, 2016 Or.) Notably, Respondent

had the same opportunity to pursue discovery in the Pennsylvania case as he has had in this case. (Jan. 4, 2021 Mem. Opp. Mot. Compel at 4-5.)

Two months after the stay was lifted, on October 10, 2016, Respondent filed an amended complaint that expanded the dispute to include Appellant’s company—Direct Outbound Services (“DOS”)—as a named party. (Oct. 10, 2016 Compl.) On November 21, 2016—the deadline for DOS to respond—Appellant’s counsel filed a motion to dismiss DOS. However, due to a technical error with the e-filing system, the filing was rejected. (Jan. 22, 2018 Or. at 2.)

The very next day, Respondent’s counsel filed an affidavit of default. (Nov. 22, 2016 Aff. Default.) Acting swiftly, Appellant’s counsel refiled the motion to dismiss and emailed Respondent’s counsel to request that the affidavit of default be withdrawn. (Jan. 22, 2018 Or. at 2.) Despite knowing that the filing error was caused by a system glitch, and despite “acknowledging the timeliness of the [m]otion,” Respondent refused the request. (Id. at 2.) This is the first of at least four times that Respondent would attempt victory through procedural default. The trial court denied Appellant’s motion to dismiss on February 14, 2017. (Id. at 2.) Seventeen days later, Respondent filed another affidavit of default—this time, as to DOS—and a motion for judgment by default as to Appellant. (Id.)

In a timely motion, Appellant moved to set aside default, which was denied. (Id.) Appellant then filed a motion for reconsideration, which the court took under advisement while ordering the parties to mediate. (Id. at 2-3.) This and three other attempts at mediation would prove fruitless. (Id. at 3.) Ultimately, the court set aside default, noting

the lack of prejudice to Respondent, the “severe and inequitable injustice” that default would impose, and the law’s clear preference on deciding cases on their merits. (Id. at 3.)

With the matter of default resolved, and as discovery progressed, Appellant learned of a fake-news website which was owned and operated by Respondent. (See Mar. 26, 2018 Mem. Supp. Inj. at 5 n.3.) The site published articles attacking Appellant and his business, labeling him a fraudster and a blackmailer. (Id., Ex. 4, Ex. 5.) Appellant sought an injunction to prevent Respondent from using his fake-news website to defame him. (Id.) Although the court denied Appellant’s request for injunctive relief, it acknowledged Appellant’s fears and warned the parties about the “perils of pre-trial publicity.” (Mar. 28, 2018 Or.)

On March 15, 2018, Respondent filed a motion to compel, alleging that Appellant’s discovery responses were incomplete. (Mar. 15, 2018 Mot. Compel.) His concerns focused on boilerplate objections made by Appellant’s former counsel and on a chat log between Appellant and an individual using the alias “Ilya Putin.” (Id., Att. A.) “Ilya Putin” was the online alias of Illya Shpetrik—the person who actually posted the alleged defamatory material at issue in this litigation. (See Jan. 23, 2018 Mot. Opp. Sanctions, Att. I. at 12:17-20:15.) At this stage of the litigation, at least, Respondent was not suggesting that Appellant had acted in bad faith or had otherwise engaged in discovery abuse.

On July 31, 2018, Respondent filed a new affidavit of default, asserting that a trial court ruling on July 3 had made the second amended complaint the operative pleading. (July 31, 2018 Aff. Default.) Respondent claimed that, because Appellant had not responded to that pleading within 15 days, Appellant was in default. (Id.) Respondent’s

third attempt to secure a judgment through procedural default was not successful. (Aug. 28, 2018 Or.)

On January 19, 2019, Respondent filed a notice of appeal with respect to an interlocutory decision of the trial court. (Sept. 23, 2019 Or. at 3.) Respondent voluntarily withdrew the appeal on July 15, 2019. (See July 15, 2019 Or.)

Just 10 days before withdrawing his appeal, Respondent attempted to hold Appellant in default again. On July 5, 2019, Respondent filed yet another affidavit of default, asserting that, although Appellant had timely moved to dismiss the second amended complaint, he had never refiled his amended answer. (July 5, 2019 Aff. Default.) On August, 21, 2019, Respondent filed another affidavit of default, which raised—for the first time—the suggestion that Appellant’s electronic discovery responses were deficient. (Aug. 21, 2019 Aff. Default at ¶ 4.) This was 5 years after the case had been filed—6 years after the preservation letter had been sent.

The court declined to hold Appellant in default, finding that, by virtue of Respondent’s appeal, Appellant’s time to file a responsive pleading had been stayed. (Sept. 23, 2019 Or. at 4.) The order further held that Appellant’s answer was timely and that the case should “proceed on the merits.” (Id. at 5.)

The next significant delay occurred on October 26, 2020, when Respondent filed a motion under Rule 40(j) to remove the case from the active docket. (Oct. 26, 2020 Or.) Respondent presumably wanted to focus on new litigation he had brought in Pennsylvania federal court against Shpetrik. However, after the Pennsylvania litigation settled, the instant case was restored to the active docket and a new case number was assigned. (July 15, 2021 Or.)

Then, a new and central dispute emerged: Appellant’s electronic devices from 2013—devices that he had used 8 years earlier—became the focus of discovery. Respondent sought access to these devices in an effort to uncover evidence of Appellant’s wrongful conduct, evidence that—in 8 years of litigation in multiple jurisdictions—Respondent had never found. On August 21, 2020—oddly, while the case was suspended under Rule 40(j)—the parties entered into a consent discovery order in which, in relevant part, Appellant would identify electronic devices that he had used during 2013. There were two: an iPhone 5 and a MacBook Pro laptop. (Mar. 28, 2022 Or. at 1-2.) Appellant informed Respondent that, since 2013, he had traded in his iPhone 5 for newer models as part of routine upgrades. (Jan. 4, 2021 Mem. Opp. Mot. Compel at 9.) Although Appellant initially advised that the MacBook was no longer in his possession and that its data had been transferred to a newer device, Appellant later found his MacBook and discovered that all data from the relevant time appeared to be intact. (Mar. 28, 2022 Or. at 2.) A subsequent forensic analysis also found that a digital copy of Appellant’s iPhone 5 had been saved to the MacBook. (Aug. 24, 2023 Abrams Aff. at ¶ 9.) In short, and incredibly, all of the electronic information Respondent had sought—dating back nearly a decade—was fully available for inspection and was inspected. The consent order also explicitly directed that “[t]he parties are ordered to cooperate concerning the expeditious provision of [the MacBook and iPhone] as the Plaintiff may select for examination by the Plaintiff or such persons as he may choose.” (Aug. 21, 2020 Or. at 2.)

Regardless of the foregoing circumstances, Respondent filed a motion for sanctions on December 9, 2020, alleging destruction of evidence. (Dec. 9, 2020 Mot.

Sanctions.) In that motion, Respondent claimed that Appellant had destroyed his iPhone 5 and wrongly stated that, although Appellant’s laptop had been preserved, its contents had been “wholly removed.” (Id. at 2.) Respondent went on to assert, without any factual basis, that data transfers had erased all evidence of spoliation. (Id. at 2.) He also argued that, since Appellant was tech-savvy, the court should find the spoliation willful. (Id. at 3.) Respondent also filed a motion to compel electronic discovery, seeking direct access to Appellant’s laptop, including permission to conduct a full forensic image. (Dec. 9, 2020 Mot. Compel at 2.)

Appellant viewed Respondent’s motion as extreme, noting that forensic imaging of a personal laptop is typically reserved for exceptional circumstances. He also expressed serious concern that sensitive personal, privileged, or confidential information unrelated to the case might be discovered that Respondent would publish on his fake-news website, as he had done before. (See Mar. 26, 2018 Memo. Supp. Inj. at 3-9.) In Appellant’s memorandum in opposition to the motion to compel, Appellant detailed the circumstances of his full participation in discovery and challenged Respondent’s entitlement to a forensic image of his laptop. (Jan. 4, 2021 Mem. Opp. at 3-10.)

In two separate orders entered September 15, 2021, the court granted Respondent’s motion to compel and continued the motion for sanctions, apparently reserving a ruling until the MacBook could be produced and examined. (See Sept. 15, 2021 Or.; Sept. 15, 2021 Or. Granting Mot. Compel.) In granting the motion to compel, the court established a framework that it believed—mistakenly, as Appellant later argued—would adequately protect Appellant’s legitimate privacy interests and privilege rights. (Mar. 28, 2022 Or. at 3-7.) Under the order, Appellant was required to provide a

neutral third-party expert with all devices identified in the August 21, 2020 consent order: the iPhone 5 and the 2013 MacBook Pro. (Id.)

Before producing these devices, and in only 21 days, Appellant’s counsel was directed to prepare a privilege log identifying all confidential or privileged information contained on the devices. (Id. at 3.) The volume of data—approximately 1 terabyte—made this task extraordinarily burdensome, if not impossible. (Apr. 7, 2022 Rule 59(e) Mot. at 6.) The expert would then examine the devices, summarize their contents, and make two copies. Appellant was to provide the expert with a list of key words or search terms that were likely to yield privileged material. Using Appellant’s keyword list, the expert would identify and exclude potentially privileged information from one of the copies. (Mar. 28, 2022 Or. at 3-4.) The flagged data would be returned to Appellant, who would have just 10 days to review it and assert specific privilege claims. (Id. at 4.) After that, the expert would “sanitize” the digital copy by removing privileged content, and then provide the remaining, supposedly non-privileged data to both parties. (Id. at 4.)

The court’s order caused Appellant significant concern. He viewed the directive to forensically image his laptop as an extraordinary measure, and he was particularly troubled by the tight deadlines imposed to either prepare a comprehensive privilege log or identify privileged material through keywords. In an effort to protect his privacy and the confidentiality of sensitive data, Appellant filed a motion under Rule 59(e). (Apr. 7, 2022 Rule 59(e) Mot. Reconsider.) In support of his motion, Appellant relied heavily on the Sedona Principles—a widely recognized set of best practices for electronic discovery intended to guide and supplement civil procedure rules. (See generally id.) Citing those principles, the motion emphasized that “[i]nspection of an opposing party’s computer

system . . . is the exception and not the rule for discovery,” and that discovery rules do not create “a routine right of direct access to an opposing party’s electronic information system.” (*Id.* at 2 (quoting Sedona Principles)). Appellant further argued that the court’s discovery protocol presented a substantial risk that confidential, sensitive, private, and privileged information would be inadvertently produced. (*Id.* at 7.) Appellant specifically argued that, contrary to Respondent’s belief, Appellant had not waived the right to object to forensic imaging of his devices, nor was he precluded from asserting privilege over protected materials. (*Id.* at 12-13.)

In a further effort to protect his privacy, privilege, and confidentiality interests, Appellant attempted an interlocutory appeal of the order granting Respondent’s motion to compel. However, on May 24, 2022, the appeal was dismissed, as the Court of Appeals determined that the underlying order was not immediately appealable. (May 24, 2022 Ct. App. Or.)

On January 12, 2023, the trial court found that “the safeguards in the previous order were more than sufficient to guard against unreasonable invasion [of privacy and privilege].” (Jan. 12, 2023 Or. at 1.) The court characterized its safeguards as “a safety net of rigorous protections.” (*Id.* at 1.) In interpreting its prior decisions, the court held that Appellant “had already consented to an order directing him to simply provide the Plaintiff with devices for examination, period, with no protocols in place to protect privilege, privacy, or anything else.” (*Id.* at 1 (emphasis added).) This was not correct.

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