**RECEIVED**

**Nov 18 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Judge

---

App. Case No. 2025-000364

---

Richard A. Gorman, .....Respondent,

v.

John C. Monarch, .....Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

David L. Moore Jr.  
S.C. Bar No. 1509  
Turner Padget Graham & Laney, P.A.  
Post Office Box 1509  
Greenville, South Carolina 29602  
(864) 552-4600  
dmoore@turnerpadget.com

*and*

Andrew S. Radeker  
S.C. Bar No. 73743  
Radeker Law, P.A.  
Post Office Box 6903  
Columbia, South Carolina 29260  
(803) 500-0891  
drew@radekerlaw.com

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

**2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY STRIKING APPELLANT'S ANSWER AND COUNTERCLAIM RATHER THAN IMPOSING A LESSER SANCTION?**

---

Rule 37 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure provides that if a party fails to obey a discovery order, the trial court may issue orders which are just, including (1) an order directing that certain matters or designated facts are deemed to be established in accordance with the position of the opposing party; (2) an order prohibiting the party from supporting or opposing designated claims or defenses or probability that party from introducing certain matters into evidence; (3) striking all or part of the party's pleadings or rendering judgment by default against the disobedient party; and (4) treating the violation as a contempt of court.

The trial court, after considering the history of the litigation and Appellant's continued, intransigent defiance of discovery obligations and the court's orders, determined that the appropriate sanction was to strike Appellant's answer and counterclaim. (R. pp. 94-106.) Appellant contends that this sanction was overly broad and inappropriately tough. The decision to impose sanctions, however, is within the discretion of the trial court. An abuse of discretion may be found where an appellant is able to demonstrate that the sanctions were imposed without reasonable factual support, resulting in prejudice to the rights of the appellant, thereby amounting to an error of law. *Kershaw Co. Bd. of Education v. United States Gypson Co.*, 302 S.C. 390, 396 S.E.2d 691 (1990). Where a sanction would be the equivalent of granting a judgment by default, the record must support that the disobedient party acted in bad faith, willful disobedience, or gross indifference to the rights of the respondent. *QZO, Inc. v. Moyer*, *supra*.

As noted above, in this case there is abundant evidence to support the trial court's decision to strike Appellant's answer and counterclaim. Let us look at a few highlights. Appellant used his laptop to access another computer remotely, yet he never mentioned that other computer in the course of discovery that ran for around 11 years. (R. pp. 100, 1148, 1329-33.) That concealment prevented Respondent and each of the experts in the case from gaining any access to that computer for examination. After stalling for around three years after his entry into the consent order requiring him to produce his electronic devices, and after disobeying more than one follow-up order that also directed him to produce the devices by set deadlines, Appellant finally produced one of them. (R. pp. 31-35, 94-106.) Expert examination revealed that, after this suit was brought and discovery served, Appellant deleted data from the produced laptop, including data that would have revealed his internet activity. (R. pp. 1161-97, 1223-43, 1329-33.) In addition, Appellant's erstwhile compatriot Shpretrik communicated with Appellant using Telegram's auto-destruction feature, yet Appellant never revealed the existence of the communications, much less took a step to preserve them that was as easy as pressing a button on his phone. (R. pp. 94-106, 1344-48, 1386-88, 1393-94.)

It comes as no surprise that Appellant vigorously resisted producing any electronic devices. The laptop he did produce evidenced his tampering with and destruction of data. (R. pp. 94-106, 1144-49, 1161-97, 1329-33.) As the examining experts noted, the laptop contained numerous files that were used by someone to compile defamatory internet posts about Respondent. (R. pp. 1144-49, 1161-97, 1329-33.) That is either a

remarkable coincidence or yet another indication that Appellant destroyed the data that linked him to the authorship and dissemination of the defamatory statements.

Similarly to this case, in Griffin Grading and Clearing, Inc. v. Tire Service Equipment Manufacturing Co., Inc., 334 S.C. 193, 511 S.E. 2d 716 (Ct. App. 1999), the parties had entered into a consent order requiring the appellant to answer discovery. The appellant failed to do so, prompting motions to compel and a contempt citation. The appellant, despite being cited for contempt, continued to refuse to comply with discovery. The court found that the appellant had engaged in a pattern of non-compliance, which constituted bad faith or willful disobedience. The trial court struck the appellant's answer. This court affirmed.

In QZO, Inc. v. Moyer, *supra*, the appellant was in possession of a computer believed to contain evidence of the appellant's wrongful acts. When ordered by the court to produce the computer, the appellant delayed production for approximately a week. When the computer was finally produced, the respondent's expert determined that the hard drive had been reformatted after the court's order, effectively erasing any information which the computer might have contained. The trial court found that the appellant had willfully violated its order and intentionally destroyed evidence. It therefore struck the appellant's answer, which this court affirmed.

Here, the trial court's ruling was within its discretion. Appellant nonetheless argues that an alternative remedy would be more appropriate. He argues that he provided the MacBook for inspection by experts after being warned in the April 28, 2023 order that his answer would be stricken if there was further non-compliance. What Appellant fails to

acknowledge, however, is that expert inspections revealed that Appellant had deleted or modified the data being sought through discovery. The findings of these experts revealed discovery abuse by Appellant in violation of his duties to preserve and disclose evidence, all undertaken at a time when Appellant was aware the evidence was sought in discovery. (R. pp. 94-106, 1144-49, 1161-97, 1329-33.) The expert evidence, according to the trial court, overcame any hesitancy regarding sanctions. (R. pp. 94-106.) The trial court went on to note that it had given Appellant numerous opportunities to rectify his discovery deficiencies and provide a good faith explanation for those events. (R. pp. 94-106.) Appellant failed to do so.

The trial court rejected a spoliation charge to the jury as an appropriate sanction. Had Appellant been forthright about the remotely accessed computer, his destroyed communications with Shpetrik, and his data destruction, a mere spoliation charge might have been appropriate. The court found Appellant's conduct too egregious, especially since Appellant's actions trampled Respondent's attempts to prove his case. (R. pp. 94-106.) Fines and striking portions of pleadings had previously been threatened but did not persuade Appellant to rectify his conduct. (R. pp. 94-106.) Judge Gravely determined that to do anything less than strike Appellant's answer and counterclaim would only diminish the authority of the court. (R. pp. 94-106.) Based on the evidence and the law, that determination was well within the court's discretion.

Appellant also argues that the sanction is overly broad, since it strikes his counterclaim against Respondent. However, Appellant's acts in modifying or removing data had the effect of eliminating Respondent's truth defense, particularly since the

destroyed and concealed data had the potential to prove the truth of the statements Respondent made about Appellant undertaking to attack and defame him.

Finally, Appellant asserts that Rule 37(f) of the Rules of Civil Procedure, which provides that a court may not impose sanctions against a party for failing to provide electronically stored information lost as a result of “the routine, good faith operation of an electronic information system.” There is no proof of Appellant’s compliance with a routine, good faith operation of an electronics information system, and there is certainly no proof that the data destruction was the product of routine good faith system operations. (R. pp. 1161-97, 1223-43.) Instead, the evidence shows just the opposite. Appellant did not set up a scheduled backup or archiving function. He did not establish an automatic deletion of information or retention policy. He did not establish a litigation hold or a method of handling decommissioned systems. Instead, he undertook in or around 2017, after having been served with a preservation letter and discovery, to eliminate or modify the data. (R. pp. 1161-97, 1223-43, 1329-33.) This does not qualify as a routine, good faith operation. Indeed, experts who examined the computer determined the data deletion was deliberately performed by the laptop’s user. (R. pp. 1161-97, 1223-43, 1329-33.)

The record supports the determination that Appellant acted in bad faith, willful disobedience, or, at a minimum, gross indifference to Respondent’s rights. In issuing these strong sanctions, Judge Gravely acted within the discretion the law gives to him and to other trial court judges.

### **ISSUE 3**

#### **DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DECIDE TO RELY UPON THE NEUTRAL EXPERT AND RESPONDENT'S RETAINED EXPERT TO DETERMINE THAT APPELLANT HAD IMPROPERLY DELETED OR MODIFIED DATA ON APPELLANT'S LAPTOP?**

Appellant argues that the expert review of his laptop revealed no data or information indicating that he had participated in a cryptocurrency blackmail scheme against Respondent. Of course, this argument misses the point. Appellant modified or deleted data from his laptop, as the reports from the neutral expert and Respondent's retained expert indicate. (R. pp. 1161-97, 1223-43, 1329-33.) If that deleted and modified data included information about the blackmail scheme, Appellant destroyed evidence of his involvement in that blackmail scheme.

Appellant retained his own expert who rendered an opinion that there was no evidence which indicated the data on the laptop had been tampered with. (R. pp. 94-106, 1244-1322.) The trial court, acting within its discretion to evaluate witnesses' credibility, was not convinced by this report but found the reports of the neutral expert and Respondent's expert to be credible. (R. pp. 94-106.)

Appellant argues that there was a difference of opinion between the experts; however, he ignores that the trial court, as the trier of fact, was permitted to make a decision as to which opinions would be relied upon. *See QZO, Inc. v. Moyer, supra*. The appealed ruling was not a grant of summary judgment. The issue is not whether there was a genuine issue of material fact. It is, rather, whether the record contains evidence to support Judge Gravely's ruling and whether there is legal support for it. The answer

to both parts of the question is *yes*. In this case, the trial judge found the neutral expert and the expert retained by Respondent to be credible.

Appellant nonetheless argues that there is no valid evidence or testimony establishing that the data had been deliberately deleted, ignoring the testimony of the other experts. (R. pp. 1161-97, 1223-43, 1329-33.) The argument also ignores the fact that the trial court, acting as the trier of the facts for this matter, had the right and the duty to determine which witnesses and which facts he would rely upon in making his decision. Since there was a basis for his decision, there was no abuse of discretion.

#### **ISSUE 4**

#### **DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DETERMINE THAT RESPONDENT'S DISCOVERY RIGHTS WERE TRAMPLED UPON BY APPELLANT'S ACTS AND FAILURE TO PROPERLY ANSWER THE DISCOVERY, SO AS TO WARRANT STRIKING OF APPELLANT'S ANSWER AND COUNTERCLAIM?**

Appellant has argued that he complied with discovery and court orders as best as he could and that the trial court acted excessively and in breach of its discretion in striking his answer and counterclaim. However, the evidence and court orders show otherwise.

Appellant received a preservation letter from Respondent regarding all information, data and devices in December of 2013. (R. pp. 510-14.) If Respondent had adhered to the routine operation of his electronic information system or even taken any interest in the integrity of the electronic data, he would have scheduled data backups and archiving and issued a litigation hold on the relevant devices or at least done something in an effort to preserve them. He did not undertake to do this. Instead, he claimed to have gotten rid of the devices only to turn around and claim to have found his laptop

with its data intact. (R. pp. 31-34, 75.) If he had complied with the preservation letter, the later “misplacement” of the laptop would not have occurred and discovery could have proceeded in a much smoother manner.

Pursuant to the 2020 consent order, Appellant was to designate what devices were to be produced and to provide those devices for inspection. (R. pp. 31-35.) For years following the entry of the consent order, Appellant refused to produce the laptop. (R. pp. 75, 293-384, 472-483.) Only after four orders (R. pp. 31-35, 51-58, 59-66, 75-77, 78-84) and after the court held him in contempt and threatened further sanctions did he finally produce the laptop for inspection by a neutral expert. (R. pp. 89-90, 59-65, 75-77.) It was then discovered that the data had been deleted or modified, contrary to the very purpose of discovery. (R. pp. 1161-97, 1223-43, 1329-33.)

Yet Appellant argues that Respondent has not been prejudiced, since Appellant identified the relevant devices, ultimately produced his laptop to a neutral forensic expert, and no evidence was found that he had committed blackmail. He fails to acknowledge the harm caused to Respondent due to Respondent’s inability to investigate Appellant’s wrongdoing after he had deleted or modified the most relevant records in the case.

Although the prejudice of the sanctions to Appellant is significant, it is not unwarranted. He has by his actions trampled upon the discovery rights of Respondent. Discovery is the quintessence of the preparation for trial and, when discovery rights are trampled, prejudice must be presumed. *Welch v. Advanced Auto Parts*, 445 S.C. 64, 916 S.E. 2d 320 (2025). This is especially true where a party’s discovery abuse has destroyed the opposing party’s ability to present evidence to prove his or her case.

## **ISSUE 5**

### **HAS APPELLANT PRESERVED ALL HIS ARGUMENTS FOR REVIEW?**

Among the arguments Appellant makes in his brief are the following:

- 1) Appellant did not violate discovery orders because, among other things, he falls within the protection of Rule 37(f), SCRPC, which protects a party from sanctions for “failing to provide electronically stored information lost as a result of the routine, good faith operation of an electronic information system.”
- 2) Appellant’s conduct in refusing to comply with court orders was justified because of fears of misuse of the electronic data by Respondent.
- 3) Appellant’s conduct did not prejudice Respondent because Respondent did not seek a forensic examination of the electronic devices earlier in the case.
- 4) Appellant’s resistance to producing the devices for examination did not cause material delay in this case because the majority of delay is attributable to Respondent.
- 5) The record does not show Appellant’s discovery conduct prejudiced Respondent with regard to the counterclaim.
- 6) Respondent could not win this case on its merits.

Neither of the two appealed trial court orders here addresses those arguments. (R. pp. 78-84, 94-106.) Appellant did not move to reconsider either of those orders.

To be preserved for appellate review, an argument must have been both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court. *E.g., Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E.2d 731 (1998)*. “Where a matter is not ruled on by the circuit court, the issue is not

preserved for appellate review unless the complaining party moves to amend the judgment pursuant to Rule 59(e)." *Vespazziani v. McAlister*, 307 S.C. 411, 413, 415 S.E.2d 427, 428 (Ct. App. 1992). An appellant's unpreserved arguments cannot prevail on appeal. *E.g., Hatfield v. Hatfield*, 327 S.C. 360, 367, 489 S.E.2d 212, 216 (Ct. App. 1997).

Appellant has failed to preserve these arguments for review. As they form the bedrock of his appeal, Appellant has placed himself in a position from which the arguments in his brief could not win him a victory. That is regardless of those arguments' merits, which, as discussed above, are lacking.

### **CONCLUSION**

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